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A Racketeering and Corrupt Organization Claim

Brought under Title 18 of the United States Code

Charging: Mail Fraud, Wire Fraud, Extortion

I.

FORWARD


This case is about when an insurance company and its rogue client go bad. Rather than simply let the administrative process run its due course, the conspirators choose organized crime like schemes as a means to deny a claim.  I’ve named it, “Reverse Insurance Fraud”.   And it happens to Lawful Claimants every day.


Insurance Fraud has its bundle of law designed to bring the perpetrators to justice. Perpetrators of   “Reverse Insurance Fraud (RIF)” crimes have, however, little to be concerned about. Regular law provides “Adjusters” statuary and administrative means for them to escape atonement. The cash incentives for insurers are massive. Unlawfully denied, Claimants loose health and money.  But absent ordinary justice, their essence of life bleeds away as well. More than not, they become wards of the state or worse just die.  Until Congress invents a bundle of RIF Law,  RICO will have to do. The Supreme Court teaches something serious has to be done... 








- Captain Dirck Hecking


II.

U.S. SUPREME COURT RICO AFFIRMING DECISION 

The Supreme Court of the United States of America has unanimously agreed that the RICO laws supersede McCarren-Fergusson, and that insurers may be sued for Racketeering under the RICO, without frustrating the State's Regulatory Powers. 


In their unanimous affirming decision, the justices make it clear that their decision to declare the validity of the RICO body of federal law to be applicable to insurance companies, [rather than] continue to be construed as an invitation to Federal meddling. 

III.

JURISDICTION 

(1)
Defendant PAA/Kemper is subject to jurisdiction due to diversity and with a case value of more than $75,000. within this judicial district, and therefore this is a proper venue for this Civil Action pursuant to 28 U.S.C §1391. Furthermore by the doctrine of joint and several liability, all Defendants are subject to jurisdiction within this judicial district. Defendant Kemper was, at all times, or presumed to be, registered with Secretary of State as a foreign corporation, licensed, doing business within Indiana as insurer. 

(2)
pro se Plaintiff, Captain Dirck Hecking is a citizen of the State of Indiana in the United States of America, I am here,  pro se  as a result of circumstances that have made it impossible for me to find adequate and conscientious legal counsel, and under duress, files this complaint.

IV.

STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS
“Finally, a RICO claim may survive the expiration of the statute of limitations for the underlying claim. This attribute can offer me the prospect of a very wide discovery since predicate acts can be as much as ten years apart.” 

V.

COMPLAINT

Due to the nature and complexity of this case, and the ongoing nature of the violations, plus my limitations of time, health, money and legal assistance, I respect-fully request permission from the court to amend this complaint by adding Causes of Action, Defendants, Witnesses and Predicate Acts as information continues to become available and research continues. Fed. Rule 15(b) and Fed. Rule 15(d) “Amendments to the pleadings are allowed quite liberally in an effort to decide cases on their merits.” 

(1)
This is a RICO action and is brought against PAA/Kemper Insurance Company et al because, after my notification of injury, the Defendants decided to enter into a tort scheme to defeat the lawful purpose of Workman’s Compensation law using a fraud scheme with specific intent, and contemplated harm. I will prove, PAA, rather than allow administrative means to play out, decided  first, to retaliate by my early, unfair removal from the training program and termination. Thereafter, PAA decided to add conspirator Defendants who together engaged in fraud, wire fraud mail fraud, extortion and other organized crime and organized crime-like activities to be their primary means of denying me a fair hearing under Workmens Compensation law. 

(2)
I am filing a merged complaint of State Violations of Insurance Law, violations of New Hampshire General Laws Indiana Laws and Federal Civil RICO (Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations) to encompass the criminal activities engaged in by PAA/Kemper/Klein. I will prove, that PAA/Kemper/Klein, in concert with others, whose acts will be linked, injured me; willfully, intentionally, maliciously, and as part of an organized Racketeering Enterprise involving schemes. 

(3)
I will prove, PAA/Kemper’s purpose in denying my legitimate claims is purely retaliatory and financial. PAA/Kemper goes about denying legitimate insurance claims through a series of Predicate Acts, including Mail and Wire Fraud and Extortion constituting racketeering in violation of the Federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act (hereafter RICO) enacted in 1970 as Title IX of the Organized Crime Control Act of 1970. Using a Pattern of Predicate Acts as defined by RICO, PAA/Kemper denied my legitimate claim. By wrongful termination and serving the corrupt Memo of DenialE2 on the New Hampshire Department of Labor and me, they have unlawfully set me up to be financially unable to attract powerful Private Sector lawyers to sue for my rightful benefits. Moreover, I am afraid of being “starved off” my rightful claim. PAA/Kemper further uses the Legal Process for extortion by engaging in wrongful use of administrative Workmens Compensation procedures,  including fraud in official matters; to delay just benefits, unlawfully distort the facts, retaliate, intimidate and harass me for doing the timely, right thing and file the W/C claim, the after I was told by the VA, that my disease came from an on the job event. PAA/Kemper/Klein, have  taken advantage of certain distortions of law, namely the Worker’s Compensation law, to engage in Criminal Behavior with little fear they would be held accountable. They think that they can summarily dismiss my claim and as most claimants do in hopelessness, that I’ll simply go away. 


Statistically only a few will hang in there and be made whole, for the rest, these summary denials, “Reverse Insurance Fraud”, ends their pursuit of constitutional right.

(4)    I will prove, PAA/Kemper is using the very legal system, that an aggrieved victim like me turns to, as a part of their extortion scheme and due to the fact that there exist inadequacies of the courts and legal profession making it expensive, time consuming, and emotionally draining for me to get a fair hearing; only massive punitive damages in this case [embryo of David v. Goliath] will create the deterrent effect that are the intent of our system of justice and the intent of exemplary and punitive damage awards. PAA/Kemper is using the legal system as a tool to unconscionably, maliciously and fraudulently deprive me of my constitutional rights to a fair treatment under Workmen’s Compensation.

(5)    I will prove, that under duress, I have been forced to either give up my right to statutory medical care, or enter into the following causes of action to right the egregious wrongs of PAA/Kemper, and all Defendants. I am understandably fearful of undertaking this immense lawsuit for the reasons cited above, yet, I feel compelled to do so to right a grievous and ongoing wrong. I beg the courts’ indulgence, as I struggle to learn the rules and regulations enacted by the Justice System and the Constitution of the United States to ensure a fair hearing for both sides in a fight in which I am clearly at an experience disadvantage, legally, financially, and physically. This complaint is necessarily lengthy due to the complexity of the action, the pleading requirements of RICO, the multiple schemes, myriad cover-ups, and other misdeeds which I have painstakingly documented for presentation in this action before the court. Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, pg. 85, Advisory Committee notes for Rule 11 “The Court has sufficient discretion to take account of the special circumstances that often arise in pro se situations.” See Haines v Kerner, 404 U.S. 519 (1977). 

(6)    I am bringing this suit for relief pursuant to the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Statute (hereafter “RICO”), Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1961 through 1968, to put an end to this systematic, ongoing corruption practice by PAA/Kemper to restore for me, the traditional function of insurance as a risk-spreading device, which is sold with promises of a level playing field of service trust, and beneficiary peace of mind. I will prove, PAA/Kemper’s pervasive, predatory, evasive tactics and methods go far beyond mere Insurance Bad Faith and hard-nosed business tactics, which have a reasonable possibility of being redressed by State Court Tort Actions, and lie clearly in the realm of the Criminal Activity encompassed by the RICO Act. 

(7)    I will prove my action before the Court, in good faith. That: a) I became a regular employee of Pan American Airways and subject to the PAA/Kemper policy as an employment benefit and matter of law. b) On the job, I was unfortunate enough to develop and be diagnosed with a medical condition of labrynthitis, which quickly led to my inability to reliably function in my profession as an Airline Captain. c) I complied with all the statutory Workers Compensation (W/C) requirements in a timely fashion. I will prove, the Defendants engaged in dishonest behavior from the claim outset, rather than enter the administrative procedure lawfully.

(8)   I will prove, that PAA/Kemper, falsely conspired to sell employees and The Department of Labor the idea that they provide fair Workmens’ Compensation coverage, knowing very well they had an escape scheme, engineered, so that the claims process on their whim, was not going to be conducted according to statutory lawful provisions but by a malicious, willful, illegal conspiracy to undermine my confidence and integrity. By: a) intimidate and scare me; b) cause me great psychological and physical stress; c) attempt to disrupt the relationships I have with my treating physicians; d) distort both policy language, my doctors’ reports and the law; e) not cooperate in any meaningful way with my attempts to ascertain why PAA/Kemper claimed I had not fulfilled claim requirements; f) force me into litigation and then use the legal system to conduct further harassment, intimidation, delays, increase my legal and overhead expenses, so as to starve me off this case. The primary purpose of PAA/Kemper’s W/C claims procedures is to eliminate legitimate claims, particularly those of high dollar amounts, putting the interests of the company before the fiduciary obligation owed by law and decency and promised to their workers. Furthermore, the nature of these unlawful procedures is specifically designed to force me into positions of financial and emotional duress, so I will give up. 

(9)    I will prove that the initial purpose of PAA/Kemper’s EMPLOYEE and CAUSE “investigation” was not to fairly evaluate and pay, or assist me in the emergency management of my disability, but was for purposes of putting false and prejudicial information into my claims and W/C files: a) to be used against me in W/C proceedings; b) to draw out the claims process as long as legally possible; to conduct an inadequate and biased investigation ignoring all evidence in favor of  me and reporting only that against, or fabricating it; c) to attempt to confuse and torture me with innuendoes intended to induce guilt and depression, hopelessness by defeating the truth of the case.

(10)    I will prove, PAA/Kemper’s “predatory and oppressive” behavior, has created an environment, at the direction of and with full knowledge and approval of their top executives and management, driven by profits, bonuses that created a criminal conflict of interest that violates my rights, endangers my health and my well-being both physical, emotional and financial. These racketeers encouraged unethical, illegal, malicious, willful, and unconscionable behavior and psychological torture. 

(11)    I will prove that PAA/Kemper’s scheme has been so far successful in limiting payout on my legitimate claim by virtue of delays caused by lies, half-truths and schemes committed when it filed a fraudulent “Memo of Denial” forcing an unnecessary DOL hearing and appeals process which made the DOL victim of racketeering, from the outset of the corrupt claim denial by PAA/Kemper.

(12)    PAA/Kemper/Klein racketeers: a) [continue to] Perpetuate this elaborate fraud day after day, on me. b) Placed its own financial interests far ahead of this claimant; b) that PAA/Kemper will breach their fiduciary duty in handling claims; and c) that PAA/Kemper has set up a mechanism for doing so; 

(13)
I will prove that PAA/Kemper are guilty of extortion by: (a) Fraudulent use of the administrative and legal system by mailing the denial of my legitimate insurance claim; (b) By, wrongfully terminating me. PAA/Kemper (a) and (b) as delay for the purpose of harassment, retaliation and to put me in further financial and emotional peril, and thereby clearly meant to put me in a fearful state of mind. 


“Extortion is defined as obtaining property with the victim’s consent which is ‘induced by wrongful use of actual or threatened force, violence, or fear, or under color of official right. Many hard-nosed business practices can be re-cast as the ‘extortion’ of property by use of economic ‘fear’ and thus give rise to alleged RICO violations.” From  U.S. v. Alan J. Valenzeno, No 95-4203, 1997 FED App. 0240P (6th Cir.) “Extortion occurs, however, when 'the Defendant purports to have the power to hurt the victim in economic terms and fear is induced.'" "the element of 'fear' required by the Act can be satisfied by putting the victim in fear of economic loss." “‘fear of economic loss' is viewed from the perspective of the victim" "extortion by wrongful use of fear encompasses threats of economic loss... Furthermore, the fear need not be the product of the Defendant's actions. It is enough if the fear exists and the Defendant intentionally exploited it.” In the instant case fear of economic loss by fear of termination and fear of loss Class I physical, of flying license, or fear of loss of my standard of living. "It is enough to sustain a conviction if...fear exists and the Defendant intentionally exploited it." "Our examination of the statutory language and the legislative history of the Hobbs Act impels us to the conclusion that Congress intended to make criminal all conduct within the reach of the statutory language." 


"As Representative Hobbs noted, the words robbery and extortion 'have been construed a thousand times by the courts. EVERYBODY KNOWS WHAT THEY MEAN.'" situations involving "the wrongful use of fear to obtain money...would therefore fall within the statutory definition." 


Although dissenting Judge Moore also states that "not every snake-oil salesman who preys on our fears of sickness and death is an extortionist" she not only agreed with the court's decision but Plaintiff will prove that considering the degree, malice, and planning involved in [ed. PAA/Kemper's] schemes, it is clearly extortion. 


"We use the word 'extort' in the dictionary sense: Extort:  to compel or coerce...by any means serving to overcome one's power of resistance; to gain by wrongful methods; to obtain in an unlawful manner; to exact something wrongfully by threats or putting in fear. Extortion: the obtaining of property from another induced by wrongful use of ...force.. or fear, or under color of official right. Black's Law Dictionary 6th Ed.) 

Webster's Third International Dictionary includes in its definitions 'extort,' to obtain from an unwilling or reluctant person by importunity, argument or ingenuity' or 'to deceive.'" "position of power provides the necessary coercive element and no showing of fear is necessary." "Where one uses fear to obtain money to which one has no lawful claim, the use of fear is wrongful.”

(14)
I will prove that PAA/Kemper are guilty of  Money Laundering, 18 U.S.C.A. 

In Black’s dictionary, the term is used to describe investment or other transfer of money flowing from racketeering, drug transactions, and other illegal sources into legitimate channels, so that its original course cannot be traced. I allege: (a) that all monies from fraudulently denied insurance claim were used in the furtherance of the legitimate activities of Kemper, in the form of salaries, expenses, stockholder dividends, and other expenses of a legitimate insurance business and were also used in the furtherance of the Racketeering enterprise and schemes. (b) that all monies gained from were used in the furtherance of the legitimate activities of the Pan American Airways Corp., in the form of salaries, expenses, stockholder dividends, and other expenses of a legitimate air line business and were also used in the furtherance of the Racketeering enterprise and schemes; 

(15)
I will prove  the termination was wrongful and part of the RICO scheme. Before my termination, PAA management knew, as a regular matter of its business, that vertigo seriously impairs any pilots ability to fly.  Moreover, they knew that I had been seen in the emergency room of the Miami VA Medical Center and admitted over October 14th and 15th.  As a matter of its business, PAA knew they had no other business reason for terminating me, than to punish me. John Monk, chief pilot, had told me over the telephone, “you have become quite a pest”. Building on the termination letter, Fink/PAA decided, rather than simply comply and fix me, to invent a scheme, when I forcefully insisted they make lawful notification of my disease with the Department of Labor (W/C). They never did!

(16)
I will prove Extortionate Acts were part of the scheme – Guilty v. Commerce Ins. Co (1994) 631 NE 2d 75, 36 Mass.App.Ct 339, review denied 636 NE 2d 278, 418 Mass. 1102. Absence of good faith on the part of insurer and presence of extortionate tactics generally characterize action based on unfair settlement practices. In this case making it impossible to even get notions of settlement on the table.

(17)    I will prove by a preponderance of the evidence, that PAA/Kemper/ Klein as racketeers,  have engaged in and are continuing day by day to engage, in a pattern of criminal behavior involving mail fraud, wire fraud, extortion, retaliation and other violations of numerous State and Federal laws against me. Their sole motive being retaliation to get me off the property, and then saving themselves the cost of the natural claim to the misfortune of this injured claimant, me.

VI.

MAKING RICO TEST ELEMENTS
956 RICO Prosecutions -- 18 U.S.C. §§ 1961-68  “(The property subject to forfeiture includes "real property" and "tangible and intangible personal property." See § 1963(b)(” 
"Although it took some time before federal prosecutors began to use RICO expansively, it is now widely used against many types of crime, including white collar crime." O. Obermaier and R. Morvillo, White Collar Crime: Business and Regulatory Offenses, § 11.03, at 11-6 (Rel. 2, 1991). RICO's prohibited activities are provided at 18 U.S.C. § 1962. Violations of either Section 1341 or 1343 or both may be used by prosecutors as the predicate acts necessary to establish a RICO violation. See 18 U.S.C. § 1961(1)(B) ("racketeering activity" defined to include "any act which is indictable under . . . . section 1341 (relating to mail fraud), section 1343 (relating to wire fraud) . . . ."), et al. 

If the other requisite elements of a RICO violation can be established, a Defendant who has committed the predicate acts of mail or wire fraud may be subjected to more severe sanctions than those imposed for a mail or wire fraud conviction. For example, the United States Sentencing Guidelines provide that the minimum base offense level for unlawful conduct relating to a RICO conviction is 19. U.S.S.G. § 2E1.1. In addition, the government may seek civil (18 U.S.C. § 1964) or criminal (18 U.S.C. § 1963(a)(1)-(3)) forfeiture of assets. "Courts have generally held that RICO criminal forfeiture is mandatory upon the Defendant's conviction." O. Obermaier and R. Morvillo, § 11.05, at 11-22 (citing cases from the Third, Fourth, Fifth, Ninth, and Eleventh Circuits). The property subject to forfeiture includes "real property" and "tangible and intangible personal property." See § 1963(b). 

940 18 U.S.C. Section 1341 -- Elements of Mail Fraud 
"There are two elements in mail fraud: (1) having devised or intending to devise a scheme to defraud (or to perform specified fraudulent acts), and (2) use of the mail for the purpose of executing, or attempting to execute, the scheme (or specified fraudulent acts)." Schmuck v. United States, 489 U.S. 705, 721 n. 10 (1989); see also Pereira v. United States, 347 U.S. 1, 8 (1954) ("The elements of the offense of mail fraud under . . . § 1341 are (1) a scheme to defraud, and (2) the mailing of a letter, etc., for the purpose of executing the scheme."); Laura A. Eilers & Harvey B. Silikovitz, Mail and Wire Fraud, 31 Am. Crim. L. Rev. 703, 704 (1994) (cases cited). 

941 18 U.S.C. 1343 -- Elements of Wire Fraud 

The elements of wire fraud under Section 1343 directly parallel those of the mail fraud statute, but require the use of an interstate telephone call or electronic communication made in furtherance of the scheme. United States v. Briscoe, 65 F.3d 576, 583 (7th Cir. 1995) (citing United States v. Ames Sintering Co., 927 F.2d 232, 234 (6th Cir. 1990) (per curiam)); United States v. Frey, 42 F.3d 795, 797 (3d Cir. 1994) (wire fraud is identical to mail fraud statute except that it speaks of communications transmitted by wire); see also, e.g., United States v. Profit, 49 F.3d 404, 406 n. 1 (8th Cir.) (the four essential elements of the crime of wire fraud are: 

(1) that the Defendant voluntarily and intentionally devised or participated in a scheme to defraud another out of money; (2) that the Defendant did so with the intent to defraud; (3) that it was reasonably foreseeable that interstate wire communications would be used; and (4) that interstate wire communications were in fact used) (citing Manual of Model Criminal Jury Instructions for the District Courts of the Eighth Circuit 6.18.1341 (West 1994)), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 2289 (1995); United States v. Hanson, 41 F.3d 580, 583 (10th Cir. 1994) (two elements comprise the crime of wire fraud: (1) a scheme or artifice to defraud; and (2) use of interstate wire communication to facilitate that scheme); United States v. Faulkner, 17 F.3d 745, 771 (5th Cir. 1994) (essential elements of wire fraud are: (1) a scheme to defraud and (2) the use of, or causing the use of, interstate wire communications to execute the scheme), cert. denied, 115 S.Ct. 193 (1995); United States v. Cassiere, 4 F.3d 1006 (1st Cir. 1993) (to prove wire fraud government must show (1) scheme to defraud by means of false pretenses, (2) Defendant's knowing and willful participation in scheme with intent to defraud, and (3) use of interstate wire communications in furtherance of scheme); United States v. Maxwell, 920 F.2d 1028, 1035 (D.C. Cir. 1990) ("Wire fraud requires proof of (1) a scheme to defraud; and (2) the use of an interstate wire communication to further the scheme.") 

942 The Scheme and Artifice to Defraud “(wrongdoing one in his property rights by dishonest methods or schemes," and "usually signify the deprivation of something of value by trick, chicane, or overreaching."'" Carpenter, 484 U.S. at 27”
The wire fraud statute was patterned after the mail fraud statutes. United States v. Lemon, 941 F.2d 309, 316 (5th Cir. 1991); United States v. Castillo, 829 F.2d 1194, 1198 (1st Cir. 1987). Thus, the same principles apply in defining "scheme to defraud" for mail and wire fraud prosecutions. See Carpenter v. United States, 484 U.S. 19, 25 n. 6 (1987) ("The mail and wire fraud statutes share the same language in relevant part, and accordingly we apply the same analysis to both sets of offenses here."); United States v. Lemire, 720 F.2d 1327, 1334-35 n. 6 (D.C. Cir. 1983) ("The requisite elements of 'scheme to defraud' under the wire fraud statute [§ 1343] and the mail fraud statute [§ 1341], are identical. Thus, cases construing mail fraud apply to the wire fraud statute as well."), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1226 (1984). 

The mail fraud and wire fraud statutes do not define the terms "scheme" or "artifice" and the courts have traditionally been reluctant to offer definitions of either term except in the broadest and most general terms. Lemire, 720 F.2d at 1335 ("Congress did not define 'scheme or artifice to defraud' when it first coined that phrase, nor has it since. Instead, that expression has taken on its present meaning from 111 years of case law."). 

The fraudulent aspect of the scheme to defraud is to be measured by nontechnical standards and is not restricted by any common-law definition of false pretenses. "The words 'to defraud' in the mail fraud statute have the 'common understanding' of '"wrongdoing one in his property rights by dishonest methods or schemes," and "usually signify the deprivation of something of value by trick, chicane, or overreaching."'" Carpenter, 484 U.S. at 27 (quoting McNally v. United States, 483 U.S. 350, 358 (1987) (quoting Hammerschmidt v. United States, 265 U.S. 182, 188 (1924))). "The concept of 'fraud' includes the act of embezzlement, which is '"the fraudulent appropriation to one's own use of the money or goods entrusted to one's own care by another."'Id. (quoting Grin v. Shine, 187 U.S. 181, 189 (1902)). 

948 Intent to Defraud “(the accused need not have succeeded in his scheme to be guilty of the crime."); United States v. Bailey”
The government must prove that the Defendant had the specific intent to defraud. See United States v. Diggs, 613 F.2d 988, 997 (D.C. Cir. 1979) ("Because only 'a scheme to defraud' and not actual fraud is required, proof of fraudulent intent is critical."), cert. denied, 446 U.S. 982 (1980); see also United States v. Costanzo, 4 F.3d 658, 664 (8th Cir. 1993) (intent is an essential element, inquiry is whether Defendants intended to defraud); United States v. Porcelli, 865 F.2d 1352, 1358 (2d Cir.) (specific intent requires intent to defraud, not intent to violate the statute), cert. denied, 493 U.S. 810 (1989); cf. United States v. Reid, 533 F.2d 1255, 1264 n. 34 (D.C. Cir. 1976) ("Proof that someone was actually defrauded is unnecessary simply because the critical element in a 'scheme to defraud' is 'fraudulent intent,' Durland v. United States, 161 U.S. 306 . . . (1896), and therefore the accused need not have succeeded in his scheme to be guilty of the crime."); United States v. Bailey, 859 F.2d 1265, 1273 (7th Cir. 1988) (court held that there must be sufficient evidence that the Defendant acted with intent to defraud, that is, "willful participation in [the] scheme with knowledge of its fraudulent nature and with intent that these illicit objectives be achieved." (quoting United States v. Price, 623 F.2d 587, 591 (9th Cir. 1980), cert. denied, 449 U.S. 1016 (1980), overruled on other grounds by, United States v. DeBright, 730 F.2d 1255 (9th Cir. 1984)), cert denied, 488 U.S. 1010 (1989). 

949 Proof of Fraudulent Intent   “(fraudulent intent is shown if a representation is made with reckless indifference to its truth or falsity. Cusino, 694 F.2d at 187.” 
"The requisite intent under the federal mail and wire fraud statutes may be inferred from the totality of the circumstances and need not be proven by direct evidence." United States v. Alston, 609 F.2d 531, 538 (D.C. Cir. 1979), cert. denied, 445 U.S. 918 (1980). Thus, intent can be inferred from statements and conduct. United States v. Cusino, 694 F.2d 185, 187 (9th Cir. 1982) (citing United States v. Beecroft, 608 F.2d 753, 757 (9th Cir. 1979)), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 932 (1983). Impression testimony, that is, testimony of victims as to how they had been misled by Defendants, is admissible to show an intent to defraud. See Phillips v. United States, 356 F.2d 297, 307 (9th Cir. 1965), cert. denied, 384 U.S. 952 (1966). Also consider complaint letters received by Defendants as relevant to the issue of intent to defraud. The inference might be drawn that, since the Defendant knew victims were being misled by solicitation literature and other representations, the continued operation of the business despite this knowledge showed the existence of a scheme to defraud. 

Fraudulent intent is shown if a representation is made with reckless indifference to its truth or falsity. Cusino, 694 F.2d at 187. In addition, "fraudulent intent may be inferred from the modus operandi of the scheme." United States v. Reid, 533 F.2d 1255, 1264 n. 34 (D.C. Cir. 1976) ("The purpose of the scheme 'must be to injure, which doubtless may be inferred when the scheme has such effect as a necessary result of carrying it out.") (quoting United States v. Regent Office Supply Co., 421 F.2d 1174, 1180-81 (2d Cir. 1970) (quoting Horman v. United States, 116 F. 350, 352 (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 187 U.S. 641 (1902))). "Of course proof that someone was actually victimized by the fraud is good evidence of the schemer's intent." Id. (quoting Regent Office Supply Co., 421 F.2d at 1180-81). In United States v. D'Amato, the court explained the government's burden of proving fraudulent intent as follows: 

The scheme to defraud need not have been successful or complete. Therefore, the victims of the scheme need not have been injured. However, the government must show "that some actual harm or injury was contemplated by the schemer." Because the Defendant must intend to harm the fraud's victims, "misrepresentations amounting only to a deceit are insufficient to maintain a mail or wire fraud prosecution." "Instead, the deceit must be coupled with a contemplated harm to the victim." In many cases, this requirement poses no additional obstacle for the government. When the "necessary result" of the actor's scheme is to injure others, fraudulent intent may be inferred from the scheme itself. Where the scheme does not cause injury to the alleged victim as its necessary result, the government must produce evidence independent of the alleged scheme to show the Defendant's fraudulent intent. 39 F.3d 1249, 1257 (2d Cir. 1994) (citations and footnote omitted).

973 Sufficiency of Indictment -- Mailings or Transmissions in Furtherance of Scheme  “(The question is not whether the indictment particularly alleges sufficient facts from which a jury could find that the mailings charged were in furtherance of the scheme, but rather whether the Government conceivably could produce evidence at trial showing that the designated mailings were for the purposes of executing the scheme. United States v. Sampson”
"The Government need not allege the subordinate evidentiary facts by which it intends to prove the 'in furtherance' element of the crime charged, and an indictment setting out the mailings charged and alleging that they were in furtherance of the scheme should not be dismissed as insufficient on its face unless there is no conceivable evidence that the Government could produce at trial to substantiate its 'in furtherance' allegation." United States v. Castor, 558 F.2d 379, 385 (7th Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 1010 (1978). In Castor, the court observed the following concerning the requirement of alleging that the mailings were in furtherance of the scheme: 

The question is not whether the indictment particularly alleges sufficient facts from which a jury could find that the mailings charged were in furtherance of the scheme, but rather whether the Government conceivably could produce evidence at trial showing that the designated mailings were for the purposes of executing the scheme. United States v. Sampson, 371 U.S. 75, 76, 83 S.Ct. 173, 9 L.Ed.2d 136 (1962). The resolution of the question of whether the mailings alleged were in furtherance of the scheme must await trial "unless it so convincingly appears on the face of the indictment that as a matter of law there need be no necessity for such delay." United States v. Feinberg, 50 F. Supp. 976, 977 (E.D.N.Y. 1973), aff'd, 140 F.2d 592 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 322 U.S. 726, 64 S.Ct. 943, 88 L.Ed. 

VII.

PLAINTIFF
Captain Dirck Hecking - 


I am a citizen of Indiana who was employed as a Captain at PAA on 

August 24, 2001. On December 5, 2001, I was injured on the job during wet ditching class. While hospitalized and suffering from rotation, I reported the diagnosis the injury, October 15, 2001. Rather than allow the Workers Compensation system to work, the Defendants entered into a racketeering scheme that they believed would interfere, delay, create fear and hopelessness and defeat my claim. On December 7, 2001, Pan American wrongfully terminated me in retaliation for W/C notification and as just another salvo of their racketeering scheme.  

VIII.

DEFENDANT RACKETEERS 
Mr. Tatone & Kemper Insurance - 


Mr. Tatone is a licensee of the State of N.H. and has decided to promote the racketeering schemes of Mr. Fink and Kemper designed, not to be fair and unbiased, but solely to eliminate every dollar of the value of my fair claim, by fraud, extortion and by racketeering. Mr. Tatone, licensee, clearly gets his adjuster authority by promising the State he goes about his duty and responsibly to the highest expectation of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing.


This means that in the day to day administration of his job, Mr. Tatone,  needs to act in extreme good faith with me; by evaluating my claim promptly, expediently, with professionalism, true timeliness, giving me the benefit of the doubt, moreover, pay my claim first while continuing to fully investigate the claim. Mr. Tatone has decided to behave as an out-of-control cheap hood, rather than honor his license and special, grant of trust. 


(1)
Both Tatone and Kemper are licensees in the State of New Hampshire and as licensees, are held to a higher standard than lay persons in these matters. Both know that in the event there is an ambiguity as to policy interpretation, the decision goes to the claimant, me. They did not abide by this doctrine rather advancing their scheme to defraud;


(2)
Mr. Tatone & Kemper were entitled to examine me, conduct an investigation of my claim, at the same time they were required to deal with me with candor and fairness. Trempe v. Aetna Cas. and Sur. Co. (1985) 480 NE 2d 670, 20 Mass. App.Ct. 448, review denied 484 NE 2d 103, 396 Mass.1102.  PAA/Kemper’s investigation was inadequate, among other egregious acts, the Defendants never met me, or interviewed me or my physician team, concerning the facts of this claim. Moreover, their position was directed only towards scheming a pretense to deny the claim and to intimidate and scare the claimant, me; 


(3)
 The DOL and I believed we would get a Good Faith Kemper Coverage Investigation. Tatone/Kemper is obligated to conduct a prompt, thorough and objective investigation. (a) To be objective, it cannot be slanted towards finding a theory only to deny coverage. (b) To be a prompt investigation usually means that most coverage investigation can be concluded within 30 days. (3) To be a thorough investigation means that the insurance company must secure all reasonably available evidence that may have a material bearing on the coverage issue. See Egan v. Mutual of Omaha Insurance Co., 157 Cal. Rptr. 482 (1979); 


(4)
When Mr. Tatone mailed the truthless, “Denial of Benefits Memo” to the DOL, he did so, representing himself /Kemper and Fink/Pan American, with the added responsibility, duty and authority granted a licensee by law. His representation carried the kind of very super powers (VSP), to summarily be believed by DOL administrators, thereby easing the fraud past, the DOL Commissioner and his helpers as part of the scheme to injure me;


(5)
When Mr. Tatone/Kemper mailed a deliberate misrepresentation of controlling precedents to avoid paying a claim will likewise subject an insurer to liability for bad faith, and ignorance of recent controlling court decisions is no defense. See Cole v. Detroit Auto. Interinsurance Exch., 137 Mich. App. 603, 357 N.W. 2d 898 (1984); 


(5)
When Mr. Tatone the holder of VSP, realized that he needed help to find a way to deny the CAUSAL portion of my claim. He turned to BME for a referral to physician who he was certain would provide him with a biased medical report as part of the scheme. The late call for Klein‘s help teaches that sufficient evidence to deny cause was not in the file when the Memo of Denial was mailed;


(6)
When Mr. Tatone received and inspected his contrived medical review in the mail from Dr. Klein. Mr. Tatone added the VSP of his office and license to it. Mr. Tatone then mailed it to the DOL and me as part of the scheme;


(7)
As a licensed insurance professional, he/they knew that each day thereafter, I would suffer direct and proximate personal injury. Each and every day thereafter, Tatone/Kemper /Klein would callously stand by and do nothing to help me to stop the day, plus day, plus day torturous effects of the scheme. 

Dr. Klein - 


Dr. Klein is a licensee of the State of Mass. and a Board Certified Otolaryngologist by the American Board of Otolaryngology [A very superior credibility attribute (SCA) required for entry in the NHDOL W/C venue , which eases fraud]. Dr. Klein knew, the public and the State, often blindly, rely heavily on a man with SCA like his, to act in good faith. Doctor Klein is a cheap hood, who works as a sub-contractor to the co-conspirator Boston Medical Evaluations, Inc. directly and to PAA-Fink/Tatone/Kemper indirectly. Who each day thereafter, knowing my pain, decides to use his special honor and these SCA credentials and others against me as part of their ongoing racketeering scheme.


(1)
On June 5, 2002, Doctor Klein created the contrived, biased Medical Review for Mr. Tatone. He then mailed that report to Mr. Tatone. Mr. Tatone VSP, added the power of his office and license to it and then put that false and prejudicial information into my claims files to be used: (1) against me in W/C proceedings; (2) to draw out the claims process as long as legally possible; (3) to make believe they conducted an adequate investigation - when in fact, they conducted a biased investigation, ignoring all evidence in my favor and reporting only that against, or fabricating it as part of a scheme; 


(2)
Doctor Klein had only one medical record before him review day. This was the Medical Record created by the Veterans Administration Medical Center in Miami, FL. Rather than simply add his science knowledge of the disease and prepare an unbiased Record Review, he created as part of the conspiracy, a report biased in favor of Kemper, as part of the scheme.. Furthermore, Dr. Klein has never met me , spoke with me or examined me. All important elements of a fair medical evaluation;


(3)
Fully knowing that the truthless Medical Review was mailed out in support of a lie, Doctor Klein decided with malice, to be a part of the team of Racketeers. As a licensed medical professional, he knew that each day thereafter, I would suffer direct and proximate personal injury. Each and every day thereafter, would callously stand by and do nothing to help me to stop the day, plus day, plus day effects of the scheme. 

Mr. Fink & Pan American Airways Corp.  -  


Mr. Fink has operated Pan American Airways for his own amusement and as a tool to bolster the corrupt elements of his character.  When he hired me, he told me the importance he places on being a pillar of truth. He taught a class on it! I was impressed but leery. Since that day, he has taught me to see him, rather, as cowering behind the corporate veil of Big Blue Ball (of the Worlds Most Experienced Airline). He originally sold me on the idea he was rescuing the company. It took me only a few weeks to learn otherwise.  In spite of this gleaming bundle of assets, among them the Worlds most recognized logo, this bully who punishes his employees who enforce law before obedience, has been unable to hide the fact that he is nothing more than a scheming, cheap hood; He can only maintain power through employee intimidation, extortion, retaliation, fraud, telling lies and half truths, to people in general and supporting lies by his minions on official documents.


(1)
Mr. Fink, Certificate Holder, who controls PAA with an iron fist, knows he ascends to the authority to operate PAA, not by money alone, but by his character representations of duty and responsibility to the U.S. Department of Transportation. In that Administrative forum, he is to be held personally accountable for telling official lies anywhere by the Federal Government and by many State authorities, as to the way he does business. A conviction of Racketeering is indicative of scheming behavior, which makes him unfit to be the (PAA) Chief Executive and hold a Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity. Among them; 


(2)
In ATX, Inc. v. DOT, Order 94-4-8 (April 5, 1994),aff'd, ATX, Inc. v. DOT, 41 F.3d 1522 (D.C. Cir. 1994). According to the FAA, in ATX, the Transportation Department’s most thoroughly litigated fitness case, USDOT found a proposed new airline unfit because of the involvement of an officer--Frank Lorenzo--who had been responsible for the poor performance of other airlines for an extended period of time. Order 94-4-8 (April 5, 1994), aff'd, ATX, Inc. v. DOT, 41 F.3d 1522 (D.C. Cir. 1994). The record in ATX showed that the principal airlines previously controlled by Mr. Lorenzo-- Eastern Air Lines and Continental Air Lines--had, had continuing safety problems that were never redressed by Mr. Lorenzo. Indeed the airlines' safety problems became worse during his tenure. Among other things, Eastern had pressured pilots to fly aircraft that they considered unsafe. The airline had also adopted policies that discouraged mechanics from performing adequate maintenance. Order 94-4-8 at 26-29. Mr. Lorenzo, moreover, was unable to identify any action he had ever taken to improve safety at the airlines he controlled. Id. at 54-55. [Furthermore, the evidence showed that Mr. Lorenzo could not be fully relied upon to carry out his legal obligations, and this direct evidence of personal unreliability indicated that ATX could not satisfy the compliance disposition element of the fitness standard. Id. at 58-63.] [Ed. emphasis added].


(3)
The instant case facts will teach that Racketeering took place by Mr. Fink and other management employees whose actions he directs and whose actions he is liable for. On January 29, 2002, a “Memo of Denial of Workers’ Compensation Benefits” was mailed thus violating Title 18, to the Department of Labor. This document was an example of retaliation at that moment and is still, at the time of this submittal, part of a scheme to deny me medical care and a fair hearing before the DOL, thereby saving the Defendants’ money, were as part of the scheme; 


(4)
With malice, the team of Racketeers, beginning with Mr. Fink, his minions through Mr. Tatone VSP, mailed the truthless Memo of Denial document. Each day thereafter I have suffered direct and proximate personal injury. Each and every day thereafter not one of them, did anything to stop the day plus day,  plus day effects of the scheme.

 
(5) 
On June 5, 2002, Doctor Klein created contrived biased Medical Review. Mr. Fink and Mr. Tatone then put that false and prejudicial information into my claims files to be used: (a) against me in W/C proceedings; (b) to draw out the claims process as long as legally possible; (c) to make believe they conducted an adequate when in fact, they conducted a biased investigation, ignoring all evidence in favor of me and reporting only that against, or fabricating it; (d) to attempt to confuse and torture Plaintiff with innuendoes intended to induce guilt and fearful depression, hopelessness and real injury by scheming to defeat the truth of the case;


(6)
On December 7, 2001, Pan American wrongfully terminated me in retaliation for W/C notification this was a salvo of a racketeering scheme. Mr. Fink and his minions, knew that each day thereafter, I would suffer direct and proximate personal injury. Each and every day thereafter, each one of them would callously stand by and do nothing to help me to stop the day, plus day, plus day effects of the scheme.  


(7)
Before my termination, PAA management knew, as a regular matter of its business, that vertigo seriously impairs any pilots ability to fly. Moreover, they knew that I had been seen in the emergency room of the Miami VA Medical Center and admitted over October 14th and 15th .  As a matter of its business, PAA knew they had no other business reason for terminating me, than to punish me. John Monk, chief pilot, had told me over the telephone, “you have become quite a pest”. Building on that letter, Fink/PAA decided to invent a scheme, when I stood up to them for not filing statutory notice of my disease with the Department of Labor (W/C).


(8) 
Mr. Fink/PAA knew that their power to terminate me would, doubtless, cause me to be fearful. In the world of extortion fear is measured from the eyes of the Plaintiff, me. There actions began to induce fear in me as soon as I began to under-stand that they were not making a simple mistake about filing and paperwork but ignoring my W/C claim, altogether. I quickly feared that they might fire me for some reason trumped up reason or for no reason at all, because I made the claim.    
Boston Medical Evaluations, Inc (BME) - 


Boston Medical Examinations provides a for hire referral scheme, core to these Racketeering Defendants. Good faith legitimate Doctors and Patients and Insurers have no fear of liability from racketeering activities, and can deal with each other and claimants without them. BME acted as a mail fraud, wire fraud referral network hub for these Racketeers.


(1)
 On or about May 24, 2002,  BME entered into an agreement with Kemper/Mr. Tatone to arrange for a Record Review by an ear, nose and throat specialist. BME exists to serve its clients, like Kemper, in need of “tailored” reports with referrals to physicians, in this case Dr. Klein, who would join the scheme, and provide them with unfair reports;


(2)
 BME provides a corporate veil for the Racketeering. Dr. Klein by answering to BME /KEMPER made it impossible for injured claimants, like me, to sue in the common way, for damages, such as malpractice. Dr. Klein the physician had no Doctor - Patient relationship with me. Kemper/Tatone et al, however, presented what it knew to be unfair, as expert testimony part of the scheme against me, at my W/C administrative hearing, His writings completely conned the hearing officer and the Department of Labor;


(3)
BME seeks for a fee, to refer Racketeering Doctors, like Klein, who will accept money to write unfair medical reports as part of the scheme; 


(4)
BME seeks for a fee, to refer Racketeering Adjusters, like Tatone, to Klein, who will pay money to obtain an unlawful medical reports, unfortunately, doing so, couples them to the RICO scheme.

IX.

SANCTIONS AND REMEDIES 
“The Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit, held that the measure of damages in a Civil RICO action is “the harm occasioned as a result of the predicate acts’ and that a RICO Plaintiff “deserves a ‘complete recovery.’” 


(1)
 “Under RICO, the compensatory damages awarded must be trebled and an award of attorney’s fee is mandatory where any damages are adjudged. Indeed, the Fifth Circuit held that, where Plaintiff has brought several claims under related legal theories under a ‘common core of facts,’ and only two of the claims provide for mandatory legal fees (the RICO claim and a claim based on a state fraud statute), attorney’s fees for the work done on all such related claims are recoverable.” “Under current law, there can be no contribution and/or indemnity between or among co-conspirators. Damage judgments are intended to, and will, fall fully upon [all] the Defendants.” 


(2)
“Civil remedies for RICO violation are provided for in Section 1964. Section 1964(a) gives the district court the power to order any person to divest himself of any interest, direct or indirect, in any enterprise; impose reasonable restrictions on the future activities or investments of any person, including prohibiting a person from engaging in the same type of enterprise; or dissolving the enterprise. These are sweeping remedies.” “If a private person suffers an injury to his business or property Section 1964(c) entitles him to receive treble damages, costs, and reasonable attorney fees.” [“an insurer’s failure to conduct a prompt, thorough, and objective investigation support a $6 million dollar punitive damage award.] Ainsworth v. Combined Ins. Co. of Am., 1988 WL 113096 (Nev. 1988) (Gunderson, C.J.) 


(3)
Unreasonable delay alone, in the investigation of a claim, provide sufficient grounds to support general and punitive damage awards. A $250,000 general damages and a $500,000 punitive damage award were sustained for a delay of 9 months. See Kanne v. Connecticut General Life Insurance Co., 607 F. Supp.899 (C.D. Cal 1985)” The cases against insurance companies that have made it to court in recent years Plaintiffs have been awarded large punitive damages (Ingall’s v Paul Revere,1977ND, Supreme Court of North Dakota, Civil No. 960145, $3 Million) have been to weak and thus failed to have been large enough to have the deterrent effect desired by punitive damage awards to “punish outrageous conduct and deter future transgressions” (Black’s Law Dictionary). 


(4)
I’ve suffered damages, as indicated herein and incurred costs directly because of  PAA/Kemper’s criminal behavior: a) I was forced to cash in my retirement savings to live day to day; b) To live I eventually was forced to go on public assistance, in a Section 8 Housing Project and SSD; c) I was forced from living my natural life to being desperate every day living on the edge of poverty; d) I was further deprived of the income I could have made flying in the industry, which I could not do due directly to PAA/Kemper’s criminal behavior. e) Moreover, I had logbook hour damage, as a jet Captain’s command aloft, whereby, I was forced to loose the value of my competitive worth in the industry.   


(5)
  Where Congress has manifested its intention, [courts] may not manufacture ambiguity in order to defeat that intent.” Bifulco v. United States, 447U.S. 381,387 (1980) loss of income as a result of interruption incurred while Plaintiff was investigating and seeking to rectify the fraud. 


(6)    As Plaintiff, I most respectfully request hereby, to wholly retain and reserve all rights and remedies afforded under all law. 

X.


REQUEST TO BE MADE WHOLE


(1)
I beg the Court order the Defendant to make me whole by restoring to me, any and all benefits and rights which have been lost as a result of the unlawful sales and claims practices described herein, including treble damages and attorney’s fees for violating the RICO Act U.S.C.A 1962 (a thru d) and other law;


(2)
I beseech the Court order the Defendants to make me whole, by providing compensation for my past and future pecuniary losses, which resulted from the unlawful practices herein described. These include among others, appropriate back payments with prejudgment and postjudgment interest, counseling and medical expenses incurred, pay me back the value each day of my life, for being economically crippled and having my humanity (natural life) held hostage, and other expenses that occurred as a proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful, unconscionable, and illegal behavior, acts and omissions. 


(3) To be made whole  X 3  (pecuniary trebled) = $ 76,568,976 which sums:

   - Career wages lost: $121av rt/h  X 65 h/mo X 12mos X 9yrs = $ 849,420

   - Career insurance, travel, medical package lost: 9yrs X $2,400 = $ 21,600

   - Retirement plan losses: $ 759/mo X 108 mo = $ 81,972

   - Logbook repair: 65 h/mo X 108 mo X $3,500 rt/h ACMI = $ 24,570,000

   - Value to me, of my natural humanity (course) held hostage: $ 1,963/d X  

act# of days example 1000d = $ 1,963,000 X 3 (d trebled) = $?sum



(4) Plus Exemplary $230,000,000 X 3 = $ 690,000,000


(5) Plus Lawyer fee reimbursement, cost of prosecution and Court 


(6) Plus others the Court desires.

XI.

REQUEST FOR EXEMPLARY DAMAGES
 
I respectfully request the Court award further relief as it deems necessary and exemplary damages of sufficient enough nature to punish and deter the Defendants from engaging in the aforementioned Racketeering tactics that terrorize, frighten, harass, intimidate, scare, or otherwise harm claimants, like me. An amount of  $230 Million dollars, which cannot be reduced on appeal, would seem sufficient to accomplish this goal. PAA/ Kemper are intentionally injuring claimants like me by fraud, deceit, defamation and extortion to “advance the conflicting interest of the fiduciary at the expense of the affected claimant or beneficiary.” Brown. 898 F. 2d at 1967. In this case, the insurer spreads it’s denials over a large body of claimants, in concert with the corrupt regulatory agencies, knowing that only a very few will be able to surmount the financial and emotional obstacles of litigation to even be awarded my rightful benefits. Even attorney’s fees aren’t guaranteed. Therefore, in order to be equitable to me there must be some penalty for fraudulent racketeering schemes sufficient enough to deter the wrongdoers. This will also act as a deterrent for the Defendants to continue their pattern of abuse.

XII.

PRAYER FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF  

(1)
 Please grant a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and all actors, their officers, successors, assigns, and all persons in active concert of participation to cease and desist immediately, from engaging in any deceptive, deceitful, fraudulent, oppressive, dishonest, extortionate, discriminatory, persecutory, and unconscionable claims practices, denials and terminations of benefits legitimately due claimants, like me; 


(2) 
I request the grant of a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and all actors, their officers, successors, assigns and all persons in active concert of participation from engaging in the sale of insurance policies that allow them the claims escape routes exposed/defined herein;

XIII.

A.
MOTION FOR SEIZURE

If necessary to satisfy the requirements of this request, Plaintiff urges the court to allow seizure and dispersal of private property and funds of Defendants that were gained through aforementioned racketeering activity. The Defendant PAA has already moved assets to the Dominican Republic and Kemper have business arrangements outside of the jurisdiction of this court.

B.
MOTION FOR JOHN DOE CLAIMANT REMEDY’ s

I most humbly ask the Court order Defendants to institute and carry out policies, practices and programs which provide truly full and fair treatment of customers, policyholders, and claimants and public servants in accordance with contract and law, and which seek to identify and pay money to eradicate the effects of its past and present unlawful, malicious, unconscionable, and illegal claims racket [practices]. 

C.
MOTION FOR RELIEF FOR THOSE SIMILARLY SITUATED 

 I beg the Court to Order Defendants, at their own expense, and each of them, to make competent, verifiable, efforts to advertise and find and make whole, all similarly wronged claimants, including those forced into unfavorable settlements, and those outright denied or terminated. 

D.
MOTION FOR DECLARATIVE JUDGMENT
 
I plea that this Honorable Court issue a judgment declaring that PAA/Kemper Klein, et al, have been engaged, in multiple violations of Title 18, United States Code 1962, and have been running at least a part of their business by enterprise(s) engaged in Racketeering Acts as defined herein and by 18 U.S.C.A. Section 1962. That court issue a judgment declaring each defendant’s measure of guilt. 

E.
MOTION FOR INJUNCTIONS 

Against PAA/Kemper filing of frivolous motions, unverifiable delays, sham pleas, stonewalling and discovery abuses and any other tactics that more than likely will not hold up on court challenge and are meant merely to frustrate, obstruct, and delay justice and drive up costs of litigation, in the interest of both sides being granted a speedy trial in the US Courts in the interests of ascertaining the truth. 

F.
MOTION TO ESTOP NEW DEFENSES   

To prevent PAA/Kemper from asserting any new defenses that have not already been mentioned in attempt to draw out proceedings and estop PAA/Kemper from engaging in harassing interrogatories, that seek to ferret out prejudicial but not probative information about my medical and social condition. 

G.
MOTION TO LIMIT DISCOVERY 


Any information PAA/Kemper requests regarding Plaintiff’s medical condition, psychiatric condition, finances, acquaintances, friends and family, use of further surveillance, phone usage, computer usage, driving habits, or anything else is prima facie evidence that their original investigation was intentionally inadequate, incomplete, biased and geared solely towards entering prejudicial information into her claims files and fabricating unbelievable pretenses to deny my claims. Plaintiff on the other hand should be allowed liberal discovery to uncover evidence, documents and witnesses, that were deprived or withheld from me by PAA/Kemper despite PAA/Kemper’s fiduciary duties to assist Plaintiff. 

H.
MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND

As stipulated in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure to include other Causes of Action, Defendants, victims, witnesses, motions, sanctions, and other information as it becomes available or necessary. 

I.
MOTION FOR PRE-TRIAL ATTACHMENT OF DEFENDANT’S ASSETS 

Plaintiff includes in this complaint a pre-trial motion to attach against all Defendants their current assets, bank accounts, financial and property holdings and income, and other pecuniary interests to prevent dissipation during the course of litigation. Because of the perverse nature of Pan American Airways their insurance companies and their lawyers, in all likelihood, they will attempt to dissipate and hide assets. 

XIV.

THEORIES OF DENIAL – WAIVER 

“(forfeiture of defenses and the insurer’s duty to investigate, see William Boyd Enterprises v Fireman’s Fund Ins Co., 2 Cal. Rptr 548 (1991) (review granted). In that case, the California Court of Appeal endorsed the holding of the Federal District Court in McLaughlin v Connecticut Gen. Life Ins. Co., 565 F. Supp. 434 (N.D. Cal. 1983). The court held that an insurance company that relies on specific grounds for denying a claim thereby forfeits the right to rely in subsequent litigation on any other grounds which a reasonable investigation would have uncovered.” 

XV.

REQUEST FOR A TRIAL BY JURY 

This is my request on all issues not found in my favor by declaratory or summary judgments.  Under the 7th Amendment of the US Constitution and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 38(b), 

DATED: 

Dirck Hecking

371 Gasoline Alley

Indianapolis, IN 46222

317 486 8619 

Service of Process: 


Fink / PAA 


Dr. Klein


Kemper Casualty / Tatone

Cathleen Nevin,  

The Falcon Clinic

c/o CSC Corporate Service Company

Katz & Korin

29 Worcester Center Blvd
251 E. Ohio St

334 N. Senate Ave

Worcester, Mass 01608
Indianapolis, IN 46204

Indianapolis, IN 46204
508 368 3103

317 464 1100

Boston Medical Evaluations, 

10 High Street Ste 12,

Medford, MA 02155, 

781 396 6288
22 The MoD speaks to the DOL denying EMPLOYEE  and CAUSE  never seen by  Doctor of Kemper  before denial although the VA Medical Record is clear and concise as to CAUSE.
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